1	IN THE SUPREME COURT O	F THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		
3	LESEAN TARUS COLLINS,) NO. 557 Electronically Filed Aug 02 2011 08:14 a.m Tracie K. Lindeman
5	Appellant,	Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Cour
6	vs.	
7 8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,))
9	Respondent.))
10		
11 12	APPELLANT'S C	PENING BRIEF
13	(Appeal from Judgn	nent of Conviction)
14 15 16	PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685	DAVID ROGER CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3 rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711
17 18 19 20	Attorney for Appellant	CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265
21 22		Counsel for Respondent
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		

:		
1	IN THE SUPREME COURT O	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		
3		
4	LESEAN TARUS COLLINS,) NO. 55716
5	Amallant)
6	Appellant,)
7	VS.	
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,)
9	Respondent.)
10	Kespondent.	
11	APPELLANT'S (OPENING BRIEF
12		
13	PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER	DAVID ROGER CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTY.
14	309 South Third Street, #226	200 Lewis Avenue, 3 rd Floor
15	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711
16		•
17	Attorney for Appellant	CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO Attorney General
18		100 North Carson Street
19		Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265
20		Counsel for Respondent
21		Counsel for Respondent
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		

1	TABLE OF CONTENTS		
2		PAGE NO.	
3	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	ii	
4	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT	. 1	
5	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW	1	
7	PROCEDURAL HISTORY	1	
8	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	4	
9	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT		
11	ARGUMENT	9	
12	I. THE COURT VIOLATED COLLINS' FIFTH, SIXTH	AND	
13 14	FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS A EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY DENYING MOTION TO CONTINUE TRIAL	HIS	
15 16 17	II. THE COURT VIOLATED NRS 174.234(2) AND DUE PROCESS ALLOWING ARSON INVESTIGATOR, JEFFREY LOMPREY OFFER EXPERT TESTIMONY WITHOUT FIRST BEING NOT AS AN EXPERT WITNESS	S BY , TO ICED	
18 19	CONCLUSION	22	
20	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE	23	
21	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	24	
22			
23			
24			
25			
26			
27			
28	i		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

2	PAGE NO.
3	Cases
4	Bennett v. Scroggy , 793 F.2d 772 (6th Cir. 1986)9
5	<u>Bennett v. Scroggy</u> , 793 F.2d 772 (our Cir. 1900)
6	<u>Crawford v. State</u> , 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005)
7	Jackson v. State , 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001)
8 9	Lord v. State, 107 Nev. 28, 42-43 (1991)
10	Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 11-12, 103 S.Ct. 1610, 1616 (1983)
11	Sampson v. State, 121 Nev. 820, 827, (2005)
12	State v. Mitchell , 192 P.3d 721, 729 (2008)
13 14	<u>United States v. Gallo</u> , 763 F.2d 1504 (6th Cir. 1985)9
15	Washington v. Texas , 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 1923 (1967)
16	
17	Statutes
18	NRS 174.175
19	NRS 174.234
20	
21	NRS 177.0151
22	NRS 50.275
23	
24	
25	Misc. Citations
26	EDCR 3.60 8, 12
27	EDCR 7.309
28	

1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 3 LESEAN TARUS COLLINS. NO. 55716 4 Appellant, 5 VS. 6 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 7 8 Respondent. 9 10 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 11 JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 12 Statute which grants jurisdiction to review the judgment: NRS 177.015. Α. 13 Judgment of Conviction filed 03/04/10; Notice of Appeal filed 03/29/10. В. This appeal is from a final judgment entered 03/04/10. 14 C. 15 ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 16 THE COURT VIOLATED COLLINS' FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH I. 17 AMENDMENT **RIGHTS** TO DUE **PROCESS** AND EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY DENYING HIS MOTION TO CONTINUE 18 TRIAL. 19 THE COURT VIOLATED NRS 174.234(2) AND DUE PROCESS BY II. 20 ALLOWING ARSON INVESTIGATOR, JEFFREY LOMPREY, TO OFFER 21 EXPERT TESTIMONY WITHOUT FIRST BEING NOTICED AS AN EXPERT WITNESS. 22 23 PROCEDURAL HISTORY 24 Appellant Lesean Collins (Collins) was charged by way of indictment with Count 25 I: First Degree Arson, Count II: Burglary, and Count III: Malicious Injury to a Vehicle. 26 (AA 53-54). He was arraigned in the Eighth Judicial District Court on May 6, 2009. 27 (AA 215). Collins pled not guilty and waived his right to a trial within 60 days. Id. 28 Calendar call was set for August 12, 2009 and a jury trial for August 17, 2009. Id.

Calendar call was heard by Judge Smith in Department 8. (AA 217). The defense announced "not ready" and moved for a continuance. (AA 249). The State did not oppose the defense motion. (AA250). Judge Smith granted the motion, setting calendar call for October 28, 2009 and trial for November 2, 2009. Judge Smith said, "This will be the second setting. We would be going forward on the next one. We do firm settings here." (AA 249).

On October 28th, 2009, the defense requested a second continuance. Attorney Jones informed Judge Smith that both she and her co-counsel were **currently in trial in another case.** (AA 257). She also said that she needed to conduct additional investigation and that she had been having difficulty getting information from Mr. Collins. *Id*.

Judge Smith **summarily** denied the continuance and sent the case to Judge Barker's overflow calendar in Department 18. (AA 257-258). The defense renewed the continuance motion in front of Judge Barker. Unlike Judge Smith, Judge Barker allowed defense counsel to explain the basis for the continuance in detail. (AA 263-264). However, Judge Barker did not decide the motion on its merits either. Instead, he explained that his function as overflow judge was primarily administrative and that he had to comply with Judge Smith's earlier ruling. (AA 265).

Though he felt obligated to deny the defense motion, Judge Barker recognized its merit and set the trial in Department 12 for **Wednesday**, **November 4**, **2009**, in order to give the defense an extra two days of preparation. (AA 267). The State **agreed** to the Wednesday start date. (AA 266).

The parties appeared in front of Judge Leavitt in Department 12 on Monday, November 2, 2009. On that day, the State filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to

Conduct Videotaped Deposition of witness, Vivian Furlow. (AA 165-170).¹ The motion, which was filed in open court, indicated that Ms. Furlow was leaving for a "cruise to Mexico" later that night and would be out of the jurisdiction until November 12, 2009, a total of **10 days**. (AA 169, 271). The State had apparently learned Ms. Furlow was going out of town following the October 29th calendar call. The State did **not** confirm Furlow's availability before agreeing to the November 4th trial date. (AA 271).

Defense counsel objected to the motion because it was untimely, the State failed to file a motion for an order shortening time, and the defense was given no opportunity to file a response. (AA 276). The defense further noted that the court lacked the authority to "shorten time" to hear the motion with less than one judicial day of notice. *Id.* Attorney Jones also renewed her earlier continuance motion, informing the court that she was not prepared to cross-examine Vivian Furlow two days *earlier* than the date scheduled by Judge Barker. ²

Judge Smith and Judge Barker had already analyzed the grounds for the defense continuance and denied the motion on its merits. *See* (AA 275, 290, 840). She offered no analysis as to whether the continuance was **necessary** to safeguard Collins' constitutional rights to effective assistance of counsel, to present a defense, or confront the witnesses against him.

Judge Leavitt further prejudiced Collins by granting the State's motion to conduct a videotaped deposition of Vivian Furlow, even though the motion was untimely, the

¹ The State informed defense counsel of its intent to file the motion for video deposition Thursday afternoon (just prior to the "Nevada Day" holiday weekend). However, the defense did not receive the written motion until November 2nd, shortly before it was filed in open court.

² The defense also filed an offer of proof with the court following the motion argument (AA 195-198).

defense was not prepared for cross-examination, and Judge Barker had specifically set a Wednesday start so the defense could have more time to prepare. The videotaped deposition of Vivian Furlow was conducted on November 2, 2009, just a few hours after the State filed its motion. (AA 268-327).

Trial commenced on November 4, 2009. (AA 328-809). Following the State's opening argument, Collins conceded Count III, Malicious Injury to a Vehicle. (AA 544-551). Trial concluded on November 6, 2009. The jury returned guilty verdicts on the two remaining charges, Count I: First Degree Arson, and Count II: Burglary. (AA 193-194). On February 18, 2010, Collins was sentenced pursuant to the habitual criminal statute to life in prison with the possibility of parole after 10 years. (AA 208-209). Notice of appeal was filed on March 25, 2010.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 2008, Lesean Collins, Shalana Eddins and their four children lived together at 1519 Laguna Palms, North Las Vegas, NV. (AA 557-558). Collins and Shalana had been together for over ten years. *Id.* Their relationship was "okay" in July of 2008, but by August, Shalana felt that "[t]hings had just changed." (AA 558). Collins had become "possessive" and "controlling." Shalana testified that she, "pretty much feared for [her] life." *Id.*

In mid-August, Shalana told Collins she wanted to end their relationship, but she wanted him to continue to "play his part as a father" to their children. (AA 559). Shalana was pregnant with the couple's fifth child at the time. (AA 576). Shalana said Collins "wasn't happy" with the situation because he wanted to keep the family together. *Id*.

Shalana no longer felt comfortable sleeping in the Laguna Palms residence, so she and the children began sleeping at a friend's house. (AA 559). However, Shalana kept most of the family's possessions in the Laguna Palms home and the children continued to

spend time with Collins at the house after school. (AA 560). Collins picked the children up from school most days and stayed with them at the house until Shalana returned from work. (AA 560, 593). Collins had a remote control which allowed him to enter the house through the garage door. (AA 560-561).

On September 29, 2008, Shalana decided to spend the night at the Laguna Palms residence because she wanted to "clean up the house and get laundry done." (AA 561). She unplugged the garage door opener so Collins would not be able to enter the house with his remote. *Id*.

Collins came over to the house later that night. He was angry when he discovered that Shalana had disabled the garage door. Collins called her on the phone and told her to let him in. He also banged on the front door. (AA 563). Shalana initially refused to let Collins inside, but she eventually relented. *Id*.

Collins entered the house and began looking around. (AA 564). He eventually located his son's backpack and removed a house key from it. *Id*. He then walked out the front door with Shalana following behind him. When she got outside, Shalana noticed that two of the tires on her Ford Expedition were flat. *Id*. Shalana became enraged and threw a rock at Collins' vehicle, smashing his window as he drove away. (AA 588-589).

The next day, September 30, 2008, Shalana dropped her children off at school and went to the courthouse to get a Temporary Protective Order.³ (AA 567). Collins called Shalana several times that morning. During one of the calls, Collins left a voicemail message demanding that Shalana return his, "mother fucking shit."⁴

Collins showed up at Shalana's workplace later that day. At approximately 4:15 p.m., Shalana left her desk to go to the copy room. When she returned, her mobile phone

³ The defense requested a continuance in part to obtain and review a copy of the TPO narrative, but the motion was denied. (AA 196).

⁴ Shalana speculated that when Collins said, "mother fucking shit," he was referring to a gun that he kept at the residence. However, Collins also had clothing, blankets and other possessions at the house as well. (AA 568-569).

was missing. (AA 570). She went to the parking lot to check her vehicle and found all four tires slashed. *Id.* She then went back to her office call her children. Shalana asked the kids whether Collins was at the Laguna Palms house with them. They said, "No; daddy left." *Id.* Shalana ordered the children to go to her neighbor, Darlene Heers' house. (AA 570-571).

Shalana called the police to report the tire slashing incident. She also called her father, Robert Eddins, to help her with the vehicle. (AA 572). At some point, Shalana reviewed an office security video that showed Collins rummaging through her desk and taking her phone. *Id*.⁵

The children arrived at Darlene Heers' house at approximately 5:00 p.m.. (AA 613-614). Ms. Heers testified that, "around 6:30-6:45 somewhere," one of the children saw Collins in a car that was parked outside of the Laguna Palms house. (AA 613, 617). Heers went outside to ask Collins "what he was doing there." (AA 618).

According to Heers, Collins said he was "waiting for his wife to get home from work." Heers asked, "How is she supposed to come home when you've slashed her tires at work?" Collins said it was "none of her business," that he had a gun, and that when his wife came home, he planned to kill her. (AA 619). Heers told Collins to, "get the hell outta there," and she returned to her house. (AA 619-620). Heers never saw Collins enter or exit the residence, nor did she see him with a gun. (AA 626, 628).

Heers watched Collins drive away. (AA 628). She then called 9-11 to report the incident. (AA 629). Heers testified that the house was not on fire when Collins drove away. (AA 630).

Vivian Furlow testified via pre-recorded deposition. According to Furlow, Shalana's father, Robert Eddins, called at approximately 6:40 p.m. to ask if she would pick up the children from Darlene Heers' house. (AA 311). It took Furlow about 15

⁵ The defense was never given an opportunity to review the security video and the State did not produce it at trial. (AA 196).

minutes to drive Shalana's neighborhood. (AA 304). As she neared her destination, Furlow saw Collins driving away from Shalana's house. (AA 315). She also saw Ms. Heers standing outside her house talking on the telephone. (AA 305). The police had not yet arrived on the scene and Furlow saw no indication that Shalana's house was on fire. (AA 312).

Furlow said she was at Heers' house for "maybe 30, 40 minutes" before the police arrived. (AA 313). Furlow had planned to enter Shalana's house to gather some clothes for the children, but she could smell smoke. (AA 307). The police told her to wait while they checked the residence. (AA 308). The police informed Furlow that the door was warm, and that she could not enter the house. Shortly thereafter, Furlow could see smoke coming out of the house. *Id*.

Furlow attempted to call Collins on the phone at approximately 8:00 p.m., "after the fire department was there putting out the fire." (AA 316). Furlow did not know Collins' phone number personally; someone named, "Anitra" gave her the number. Furlow dialed the number and, in place of a standard ring, she heard an audio "ringtone" on the line. (AA 310). The recording allegedly featured a man's voice singing the words, "If you can't take the heat, stay out of the kitchen or you'll burn like my baby's mama's house." *Id.* Furlow thought the voice sounded like Collins. (AA 309). The recording was not produced at trial.

Officer Vital testified that he was dispatched to the Eddins residence at 6:52 p.m. (AA 665). He was sent to investigate Ms. Heers' 9-11 call; there had been no report of a house fire. *Id.* Officer Vital became aware of the fire at 7:05 p.m. (AA 667). He did not see Collins in the neighborhood or leaving the scene. (AA 668).

⁶ Collins wanted to locate and interview "Anitra," but he was not afforded sufficient time. (AA 196).

⁷ Had their continuance been granted, defense counsel would have subpoenaed the phone records of Vivian Furlow, Shalana Eddins, Robert Eddins and Shalana's workplace. (AA 196).

2.0

Captain Jeffrey Lomprey of the City of North Las Vegas Arson Investigation Unit investigated the cause of the fire. (AA 668-669). He determined that the fire was intentionally set and that it had three separate points of origin. (AA 672-676). Captain Lomprey also participated in the arrest and interrogation of Collins on October 2, 2008. (AA 689). Collins admitted to slashing Shalana's tires as "revenge," but he did not admit to setting a fire. (AA 691).

Trisha Brewer testified that she was with Collins on September 30, 2008 when he received a phone call informing him Shalana's house was on fire. Brewer said Collins reacted with concern that his children might be in danger. (AA 710).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Lesean Collins was denied his right to present a defense, receive a fair trial, and adequately cross-examine the witnesses against him when the district court improperly and summarily denied his motion to continue trial. This abuse of discretion was compounded when the court granted the State's NRS 174.175 motion to conduct a pretrial video deposition of Vivian Furlow, despite the fact that 1) the motion was untimely under EDCR 3.60, 2) the State failed to file a motion for an order shortening time; 3) the defense was not allowed time to file a response to the motion; 4) Furlow's unavailability would only have necessitated a brief delay, and 5) the defense attorney informed the court that she was not ready to conduct the cross-examination.

Due process was also violated when the State was allowed to present the expert testimony of arson investigator, Jeffrey Lomprey, without first noticing him as an expert witness. Collins was further prejudiced when the Court refused his proposed expert witness instruction, which would have informed the jury how to properly weigh and consider the expert testimony. (AA 861)

I.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT VIOLATED COLLINS' FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY DENYING HIS MOTION TO CONTINUE.

EDCR 7.30 provides that: "Any party may, for good cause, move the court for an order continuing the day set for trial of any case." While the decision whether to grant a continuance is generally within the sound discretion of the trial court, the erroneous denial of a continuance may violate a defendant's right to counsel, right to present a defense, and his right to due process of law. *See* U.S. Const. Amend V, VI, XIV; *see also*, United States v. Gallo, 763 F.2d 1504 (6th Cir. 1985); Bennett v. Scroggy, 793 F.2d 772 (6th Cir. 1986).

The Supreme Court has long recognized that the right to offer the testimony of witnesses and compel their attendance is constitutionally protected under both the Due Process Clause and the Sixth Amendment. In <u>Washington v. Texas</u>, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 1923 (1967), the Court determined that:

The right to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms the right to present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies. Just as an accused has the right to confront the prosecution's witnesses for the purpose of challenging their testimony, he has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense. This right is a fundamental element of due process of law.

This Honorable Court has held the denial of a motion for a reasonable continuance to be an abuse of discretion where, as here, "the purpose of the motion is to procure important witnesses and the delay is not the particular fault of counsel or the parties." Lord v. State, 107 Nev. 28, 42-43 (1991)(citations omitted). Furthermore, an "unreasoning and arbitrary insistence upon expeditiousness in the face of a justifiable

request for delay violates the right to the assistance of counsel." Morris v. Slappy 461 U.S. 1, 11-12, 103 S.Ct. 1610, 1616 (1983)(citations omitted).

In the instant case, defense counsel was forced to proceed to trial unprepared due primarily to one judge's "arbitrary insistence upon expeditiousness." This abuse of discretion compromised Collins' right to preset a defense, confront the witnesses against him, his right to due process, and indeed, his right to effective assistance of counsel.

A. Judge Smith's summary denial of the defense motion to continue was ill-considered, arbitrary, and capricious; Judge Smith's decision also made it impossible for Collins to get a fair hearing in subsequent departments.

"This will be the second setting. We would be going forward on the next one. We do firm settings here." (AA 249). Courts *should* strive to be expeditious, but not at the cost of justice, fairness and consideration.

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