1	IN THE SUDDEME COL	JRT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
	IN THE SUFREME COC	JKI OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
2				
3 4		Electronically Filed Oct 03 2011 10:46 a.m.		
5	LESEAN TARUS COLLINS,	) Case No. 55716Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court		
6	Appellant,	) Clerk of Supreme Court		
7	V.			
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,			
9	Respondent.			
10				
11	RESPONDENT	Γ'S ANSWERING BRIEF		
12	Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County			
13	Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County			
14	P. DAVID WESTBROOK	DAVID ROGER

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

# THE DISTRICT COURT WAS ENTITLED TO DENY DEFENDANT'S SECOND REQUEST FOR A CONTINUANCE AFTER PREVIOUSLY PROVIDING DEFENDANT AN 11-WEEK CONTINUANCE

Defendant's first claim on appeal argues that it was reversible error for the District Court to deny his second request for a continuance, despite the fact that the Court granted his first continuance request which postponed the trial for eleven weeks. (Def. Br. at 9-14). "This court reviews the district court's decision regarding a motion for continuance for an abuse of discretion." Rose v. State, 123 Nev. 194, 206, 163 P.3d 408, 416 (2007). The United States Supreme Court has been clear that "[t]rial judges necessarily require a great deal of latitude in scheduling trials...." Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 11-12, 103 S.Ct. 1610 (1983). "Each case turns on its own particular facts, and much weight is given to the reasons offered to the trial judge at the time the request for a continuance is made." Higgs v. State, 126 Nev. —, —, 222 P.3d 648, 653 (2010).

Moreover, "[t]his court has held that generally, a denial of a motion to continue is an abuse of discretion if it leaves the defense with inadequate time to prepare for trial." See Id. (citing Zessman v. State, 94 Nev. 28, 31, 573 P.2d 1174, 1177 (1978)). In other situations, this Court has held that a district court abuses its discretion in denying a continuance if "a defendant's request for a modest continuance to procure witnesses ... was not the defendant's fault." Rose, 123 Nev. at 206, 163 P.3d at 416 (emphasis added). Furthermore, a district court does not abuse its discretion in denying a continuance request when a defendant

fails to show that he was prejudiced by the denial of the continuance. <u>See Rose</u>, 123 Nev. at 206, 163 P.3d at 416.

Defendant claims that the denial of his second request for a continuance was improper, because in his opinion he presumed the District Court summarily denied his motion without any consideration to the reasons his counsel provided. Not only does the factual record belie this assertion, but also the particular circumstances of this case reveal that the District Court's denial of this continuance request was a proper exercise of its discretion

#### A. The Defendant Had Eight Months to Prepare for this Trial

Here, this was not a situation that left Defendant with an inadequate time to prepare his case. Higgs v. State, 126 Nev. ——, ——, 222 P.3d 648, 653 (2010). The posture of Defendant's argument on this issue takes a myopic view of how much time he actually had to prepare for this case. The Defendant would have this Court believe that Defendant and his counsel's time to prepare for this case began only a week prior to the start of the trial date set by the first continuance – November 2, 2009. (See Def. Br. at 10:14-19; 2 AA at 249-51).

During the October 28, 2009 calendar call, defense counsel argued that a second continuance was needed because in the week leading up to this calendar call, counsel were involved in a another trial, and thus, were purportedly unable to prepare for this case. (2 AA at 257). However, this case did not begin on October 21, 2009, but rather on February 24, 2009 when a grand jury proceeding commenced in this case. Those proceedings were over eight months before the October 28, 2009 calendar call and the second trial setting of November 2, 2009. Thus, any attempt to claim that defense counsel was unprepared solely because of the fact that they were involved in another trial a week before the trial in the instant case is a distortion of the record. It is unquestioned that Defendant and his counsel had *eight months* to prepare for this case.

Further belying this claim that Defendant simply did not have enough time to prepare was the fact that Defendant had already sought and received a continuance from the District Court. (2 AA at 249-51). This case was originally set for trial on August 17, 2009, but at the

August 12, 2009 calendar call, Defendant sought a continuance. (<u>Id.</u>). Moreover, it was defense counsel that *specifically told that Court that she needed another eleven weeks* to prepare and that she would be ready by November 2009. (<u>Id.</u>)

The record is unquestionably clear that the District Court was reluctant to grant the continuance but did so under the condition that defense counsel would be ready to try the case. (Id.). Defense counsel gave the District Court every indication that a November trial date would be more than sufficient. (Id.). Accordingly, if Defendant did not actually believe a November trial date would have been sufficient, Defendant should have asked for a later trial date. However, Defendant elected not to do so, and accordingly, cannot complain about the District Court held him to the trial date that he specifically requested.

Here, having eight months to prepare for a trial that involved only had a handful of witnesses and did not deal with overly complex legal issues was more than enough time for Defendant to prepare his defense. Virtually every single witness that testified at trial testified before the grand jury, and thus, he was well aware of the sum and substance of the State's case against him. In short, it was simply inexcusable for the Defendant not to "put any attention" into this case if he had eight months to get ready. (2 AA at 257:6-9, 21-23).

However, there may have been other factors at play in the Defendant's desire to continue the trial, namely the fact that during this time he had a pending murder case against him that he wanted to occur before going to trial in this case. Ultimately, given the fact that Defendant had eight months to get ready for this case, the excuse that counsel had been involved in a trial one week before this case was woefully deficient to suffice as good cause to result in a second continuance and the District Court properly recognized that fact.

### B. Defendant's Own Actions Prevented Defense Counsel From Preparing His Defense

This Court has also been quite clear that a district court does not abuse its discretion in denying a continuance if the delay is caused by the defendant's own actions. See Rose, 123 Nev. at 206, 163 P.3d at 416 (emphasis added). Here, Defendant readily conceded before the District Court and now on appeal that one of the two main reasons for the second

8

9 10

11 12

13

14 15

16

17 18

19

20

21

22 23

24

25

26

27 28 continuance request was the fact that the Defendant refused to cooperate and work with his defense counsel. (Def. Br. at 10:16-19; 2 AA at 249-51).

Despite Defendant's claims on appeal that the District Court summarily dismissed this motion without considering the Defendant's reasons, this is belied by the record. After learning that Defendant simply refused to assist his counsel in preparing his defense, the District Counsel expressly found that this self-inflicted delay certainly did not amount to good cause sufficient to postpone his trial a second time. In response to this excuse, the District Court told counsel "That's his problem, not yours. If he's not going to cooperate, then you get to try the case from the police report. If that's what he wants, you know, you don't have – you don't have any control over that." (2 AA at 257:10-12).

Pursuant to the precedent of this State, the District Court was absolutely correct. See Rose, 123 Nev. at 206, 163 P.3d at 416. Defendant is not entitled to a continuance if he is the reason why counsel cannot adequately prepare a defense. Here, Defendant's appeal simply glosses over this fact and as well as the District Court's express rejection of this excuse as good cause to warrant a second continuance. (See Def. Br. at 10-15). Furthermore, later proceedings in this case further illustrated the depth to which the Defendant impeded his own trial preparation. At a later juncture before the judge who actually tried this case, defense counsel furthered revealed that despite the eleven week continuance the real reason why counsel had not noticed any witnesses, was because the Defendant refused to work with their investigator because he purportedly wanted to "resolve" this case. (2 AA at 263:11-264:25). Consequently, the record unquestionably demonstrates that Defendant has only himself to blame for the purported ill preparedness of his defense case, and accordingly, the District Court did not err in denying his request for a second continuance.

#### C. The District Court Properly Allowed a Video Taped Deposition of Vivian Furlow

Within this claim on appeal, Defendant has also inserted a claim that it was an error for the trial judge to allow the State to take a videotaped deposition of one of their witnesses Vivian Furlow. (Def. Br. 12:13-13:16). NRS 174.175 permits that State to take the deposition of a witness who may be unable to attend a trial as long as the witness's

testimony is material and necessary in order prevent a failure of justice. Defendant argues that it was improper to do so because the short notice surrounding the taking of the deposition did not allow the defense adequate time to prepare a cross-examination of Ms. Furlow. (Id.). This argument fails for two clear reasons.

First, the only reason the deposition needed to be taken was because Defendant was not ready for the trial date of November 2, 2009. Here, when the State subpoenaed Ms. Furlow they told her that the trial would occur on the firm trial date of November 2, 2009. (2 AA at 271). After the Defendant pleaded with the overflow judge that he was not ready to proceed on November 2<sup>nd</sup>, the overflow judge attempted to accommodate the Defendant and gave him an additional two days by setting to the trial to November 4<sup>th</sup>.

However, Ms. Furlow had detrimentally relied upon the previous subpoena that was sent to her, and made vacation plans around the November 2, 2009 trial date. (Id.). Specifically, she bought nonrefundable tickets to fly on a redeye flight on November 2, 2009 to Florida in order to go on a Mexican cruise. (Id.). Ms. Furlow's travel plans did not bring her back into this jurisdiction until November 12, 2009. (Id.). Thus, the only reason why the State even needed to seek a deposition in the first place was because the Defendant claimed he was not ready and caused the trial to be moved. Accordingly, his own actions preclude him from complaining about this issue on appeal.

Second, the record demonstrates that the District Court properly permitted the deposition to be taken in accordance with NRS 174.175. Here, it is unquestioned that Ms. Furlow would be unable to make it to a November 4, 2009 trial date as she would be on a cruise ship in Mexican waters. Furthermore, her testimony was certainly material. As the State explained to the trial judge, she was the only witness to see the Defendant driving away from the scene of the crime, just prior to the arson starting. (Id. at 277-79). She was also the witness who ended up calling him on the phone and heard a ring tone set up by Defendant in which he rapped "If you can't stand the heat, get out of the kitchen or you're going to get burned like my babies mama's house." (Id.) In light of the significance of her testimony, the trial judge properly found that her testimony was material enough to warrant the taking of

her deposition, because "...she's the only one that can place him driving away from the scene." (Id. at 280:5-6). Consequently, this argument is without merit.

#### D. Defendant Was Not Prejudiced By This Ruling

Lastly, this Court has made clear that a district court does not abuse its discretion in denying a continuance when a defendant fails to show that he was actually prejudiced by the denial. See Rose, 123 Nev. at 206, 163 P.3d at 416. Here, Defendant's arguments on appeal failed to demonstrate actual prejudice. Defendant claims that since the evidence surrounding this case was circumstantial, a continuance would have purportedly enabled defense counsel to put on a more compelling case. (Def. Br. at 14: 4-5). However, it is well understood that circumstantial evidence alone may sustain a conviction. Cunningham v. State, 113 Nev. 897, 909, 944 P.2d 261, 268 (1997).

As evidence of this "compelling case," Defendant offers a series of things he would have done if he had more time. (Def. Br. at 14:4-5). at As an initial matter, the State would note that Defendant had eight months to get ready for this case, and all of the tasks he discussed below could have been accomplished during that time. However, the State will examine each of these steps Defendant purportedly would have taken.

Defendant claims that more time would have enabled his counsel to presumably ensure that his own witness, Patricia Brewer, would not have made a passing reference to the fact that Defendant got out of jail. (Def. Br. at 4-13). While that may have made the direct examination run smoother, this example falls far short of being "compelling" let alone so significant that it would have changed the jury's verdict in this case. Defendant argues that if he had more time, his counsel would have subpoenaed phone records of the victim and two other state witnesses. (Def. Br. at 14:14-17). While that may be true, Defendant fails to devote a single word to explain what would have been discovered on those phone records that would have likely resulted in a different verdict in his case. Defendant also claims if he had more time he would have interviewed four other witnesses. (Def. Br. at 14:17-18). While that may be true, Defendant fails to identify for this Court who they were, what they had to say and how their testimony would have resulted in a different verdict in this case.

Defendant also claims that if had more time he would have subpoenaed the security video from Shalana's office which revealed him spying on her and stealing her mobile phone. (Def. Br. at 14:18-19). This course of action would have been irrelevant as Defendant conceded guilt at trial that he maliciously slashed her tires at her office. He also admitted this fact to the police during his interview with them. (3 AA at 691). Thus, the only thing the video would have provided was more direct evidence that he committed that crime. Defendant also claims that if he had more time he would have obtained details about Shalana's criminal history and secured a copy of the temporary restraining order she secured against Defendant. (Def. Br. at 14:19-21). Once again, while Defendant tells this Court that he would have obtained those documents, he failed to explain how either would have been admissible in this case and why it would convinced a jury not to find him guilty of burglary and arson. While Defendant claims he "simply ran out of time" the record unquestionably illustrated that Defendant and his counsel frittered away eight months in order to prepare for this relatively simple case. (Def. Br. at 14:21).

Finally, even if Defendant had taken all of these steps, none would have been so compelling to convince the jury to change its verdict. Here, the evidence at trial demonstrated that he repeatedly harassed the mother of his children and repeatedly destroyed her vehicle's tires. (3 AA at 560-65, 67-71). The testimony also demonstrated that Defendant had access to Shalana's home. (Id. at 564). Defendant also admitted to police that he was inside Shalana's home prior to the fire starting. (3 AA at 691-93). Defendant was also the last person seen leaving her home shortly before the fire started. (2 AA at 303-04). The evidence also demonstrated that Defendant called Shalana's father and told him about the fire, before Shalana, her father or anyone knew about a fire inside her home. (3 AA at 640-41). The jury also learned that after Shalana's house was set ablaze, Defendant had placed a ring tone on his phone, which allowed callers to hear Defendant rapping the following statement: "If you can't stand the heat, get out of the kitchen or you'll burn just like my baby's mama's house." (2 AA at 309). In short, no additional amount of preparation time was going to be sufficient to overcome this overwhelming evidence of his guilt.

/ 

Consequently, although the District Court's denial of the second continuance was a proper exercise of the court's discretion, Defendant is still not entitled to relief due to the fact that he cannot show how he was actually prejudiced. <u>See Rose</u>, 123 Nev. at 206, 163 P.3d at 416.

## THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED ARSON INVESTIGATOR LOMPREY TO TESTIFY AT TRIAL

Defendant's second issue on appeal complains that it was an error to permit arson investigator Lomprey to testify because the State did not file a Notice of Expert Witness 21 days before trial pursuant to NRS 174.234(2). (Def. Br. at 15-22). Defendant argues that this amounted to reversible error because he purportedly "had a right to expect the district attorney to honor it and the district court to enforce it." (Def. Br. at 15:17-22). Defendant contends that the failure to receive this notice violated his right to confront the witness against him. (<u>Id.</u>).

#### A. The "Alleged" Expert Testimony Of Captain Lomprey

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